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DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL (IF KNOWN) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE

The South Unitarian Church was built between 1824 and 1826. It is constructed
of Rockport granite laid as quarry-faced ashlar except in the basement portion
of the walls, which consist of three courses of hammered granite. According
to an article written at the time of the building's dedication (Portsmouth
Journal, February 18, 1826), the structure measures ''"92 by 66 feet, and 26
feet in height from the basement to the coveing; with a Portico projecting

17 feet and supported by four granite columns 29 inches in diameter at the
base."

The portico is narrower than the facade of the main building and is supported
by four Tuscan columns and four simple pilasters set. onto the front wall of
the church. Beneath the portico are three doorways recessed into arched
niches with elaborately cut voussoirs. The portico is surrounded on three
sides by continuous granite steps.

The sides of the building have five arched windows which rise nearly to the
angular stone cornice of the structure. The voussoirs of each window opening
are cut at an angle in order to bond with the stone courses of the walls.

The four original windows of each side have 36 lights in the lower sash, while
the upper sash have 36 rectangular lights and an additional 15 curved lights.
The rear windows on each side, added in 1858, have 30 lights in the lower
sash, and 30 rectangular and 9 curved lights in the upper sash. AIll windows
were covered with Touvered blinds until recently.

A granite belfry crowned by a low hipped roof rises above the ridge of the

body of the church. This belfry is supported by walls of masonry that rise
through the interior of the building from the basement, and necessitate the
division of the entry or vestibule into three areas. The belfry is pierced by
four arched openings fitted with louvers. The interior of the belfry is
plastered, and the plaster is scored to resemble ashlar masonry. The bell, cast
in 1828 by the Boston Copper Company (the firm that succeeded Paul Revere and
Son), weighs 2540 pounds. An anonymous writer in the Portsmouth Journal at the
time of the building's dedication objected to the tower, stating that the
building's 'only defect is the tower or belfry, which was added in obedience

to popular prejudice, and which alone prevents us from calling this church a
perfect model of classic architecture."

Except for a gallery at the front of the auditorium, the interior of the church
is a single large room with no supports for the roof other than the building's
walls, The striking span of the auditorium ceiling is achieved.through a series -
of massive roof trusses. Each is a scissors truss, with a king-post descending
from the apex of the roof to the juncture of the two crossed struts, and thence
down a few feet more to support the center of the vaulted auditorium ceiling.

There are no known renderings of the original interior. It was described in
the Portsmouth Journal of February 18, 1826, as:

(See Continuation Sheet #1)
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in perfect keeping with its exterior; we are at once
impressed on entering it with its simplicity, the admir-
able adaptation of its parts, and its elegant workman-
ship; its area is very extensive, containing one

hundred pews; there is but one gallery, which extends
across the northern extremity opposite the pulpit, for
the purpose of containing the organ, and free pews for
the use of the poor. There are also sixteen free pews
on the floor.

The interior of the church has been renovated several times, beginning in 1842,
when it was repainted in the same colors as were used in Alexander Parris'

St. Paul's Church in Boston. In 1852 new furnaces were installed together
with a system of ventilation which is still in use. At the same time gas

was introduced into the building and the rococo wall brackets and chandelier
of that era, now electrified, remain in the building.

After repeated problems with the inadequate size of the auditorium, an
addition of seventeen feet was built at the back of the structure in 1858.
The original rear wall, bearing a stone incised with the date '"'1824'" was
dismantled and re-erected on the Court Street property line. The new
sections of the side walls, which nearly match the original stone in color,
contain arched windows which closely match the details of the original open-

ings but are narrower. According to Lawrence Craig, the historian of the church,
the addition provided for:

anterooms, space for an organ, and allowed added

depth to the auditorium.... The interior was

newly plastered and ornamented, a new organ was
installed, and the old pews were replaced with

new ones of a more elegant style, and there were

new furnishings. The changes... (resulted in)

the complete transformation of a rather plain interior

into the present highly ornate and splendid
auditorium.

The present interior, apparently dating essentially from the remodelling of
1858, is richly ornamented in the baroque style. The focal point of the
room is a deeply recessed niche flanked by monumental Corinthian pilasters
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and surmounted by a broken ogee pediment. Pairs of similar pilasters, stand-
ing on tall pedestals, are placed in the piers between the windows and support
a full entablature with modillioned cornice. The vaulted ceiling is orna-
mented with deeply-recessed plaster coffers.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Architecture: The South Church is a significant early example of the

classical style, built at a time when that style was hardly known in New
England. The building is one of a small group of pioneering structures which
introduced such major elements of classical architecture as the monumental
portico into New England. Mostly built in or near Boston, these structures
signalled the end of the delicate classicism of the Federal style and inspired
the introduction of more robust forms derived directly from antiquity. Although
the South Church is more Roman than Greek in lnspnratlon, it served as the
precursor of several later Greek Revival buildings in Portsmouth, notably

the Episcopal Chapel (1832) and the Court House (1836).

The South Church is also significant as an early example of granite architecture.
Until the early nineteenth. century, granite-cutting technology was in its
lnfancy in New England. A few deSIgns for granite buildings by Charles Bulfinch
in Boston, followed by others such as Alexander Parris and Solomon Willard,
inspired the opening of quarries in Chelmsford, Quincy and Rockport, Mass.

and the development of new machines for work:ng and transporting stone. The

South Church, built of Rockport granite, was one of the first monumental stone
buildings in northern New England.
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VERBAL BOUNDARY DESCRIPTION

The South Church sits in a rectangular block fronting on State Street.

The boundary is 106.9' on State Street, 150.0' on Church Street, 106.9'
on Court Street, and 149.8' on Court Place.
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